IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

v.

JOEL KAUFFMAN,

Respondent.

/

OF FLORIDA
CONFIDENTIAL Deputy Clerk
Case No. 67,652
(TFB NO. 04B85N08)

INITIAL BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

JAMES N. WATSON, JR. Bar Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

JOHN T. BERRY Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director The Florida Bar Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 222-5286

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 17, 1985, The Florida Bar filed a formal complaint against the Respondent alleging conduct in violation of the Code of Professional Responsibility. Upon filing the complaint with the Supreme Court, the matter was assigned to the Honorable R. Michael Hutcheson, Circuit Judge, as referee.

On March 14, 1986, a final hearing was held before Judge Hutcheson in Daytona Beach, Florida. The referee's report was filed on April 2, 1986.

The referee found Respondent guilty of having violated the following Disciplinary Rules: DR 1-102(A)(4) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud or misrepresentation; DR 1-102(A)(6) (a lawyer shall not engage in any other conduct that adversely reflects on his fitness to practice law; and DR 7-101(A)(3) (a lawyer shall not intentionally prejudice or damage his client during the course of the professional relationship.

Based upon the findings of guilt, the referee recommended that Respondent be disciplined by a private reprimand by the Board of Governors with a period of supervised probation for two years. The referee also

recommended that during the probation, Respondent attend those CLE courses given by The Florida Bar for Family Law Practice.

The Board of Governors of The Florida Bar considered the referee's report at the May 1986 meeting and voted to petition for review the recommended discipline and recommended that the appropriate disciplinary sanction should be a suspension for ninety (90) days.

Respondent filed a Motion to Maintain Confidentiality based upon the referee's recommended discipline on May 7, 1986. On May 12, 1986, the Court granted Respondent's motion.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING A PRIVATE REPRIMAND AND PROBATION AS THE CONDUCT OF RESPONDENT DESERVES AND DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

A. RESPONDENT'S WILLFUL FORGING OF AN ATTORNEY'S SIGNATURE TO A COURT PLEADING AND HIS FAILURE TO INFORM THE COURT OF SUCH FACT DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

κ.

.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent is, and at all times mentioned in The Florida Bar's Complaint was, a member of The Florida Bar, subject to the jurisdiction and disciplinary rules of the Supreme Court of Florida.

Sometime in April 1981, Respondent was retained by Mr. Mr. Was on emergency leave from the U.S. Navy and required the proceedings to be expedited.

Respondent only spoke with the husband who informed him that his wife wanted the divorce. The children of the marriage had been placed in emergency custody by the Department of HRS upon an allegation that they had been abandoned by their mother,

Respondent prepared a stipulation for the **Constant** providing for custody of the children with the father and distribution of marital property. Both parties signed the stipulation agreement.

Respondent prepared documents entitled Authorization Agreement, Quit Claim Deed, and Answer and Waiver as part of these proceedings.

The wife was told that she would be represented by another attorney named Albert Buschman, whose name appeared on the Answer and Waiver, Stipulation, and Authorization Agreement.

Respondent never contacted Mr. Buschman regarding his representing Mrs. **Contacted** and never discussed the matter with him. Mr. Buschman never met Mrs. **Contacted** or counseled her as to her rights regarding the documents she had executed.

Since Mr. **Example 1** was on emergency leave, Respondent was required to obtain a waiver of the required twenty-day period after filing to have the divorce petition heard.

Respondent obtained a hearing time before the Honorable Thomas Oakley, Circuit Judge, Duval County, Florida, on May 1, 1981.

Shortly before the scheduled hearing, Respondent discovered that he had failed to have Mr. Buschman execute the wife's pleadings necessary to go forward with the dissolution.

Without contacting Mr. Buschman, Respondent signed Buschman's signature to the Stipulation and Answer and

Waiver. Respondent failed to inform his client of this situation.

Respondent proceeded to hearing without informing the court of the forged documents and obtained a final judgment dissolving the **court** s marriage.

After the hearing, Respondent contacted Mr. Buschman and informed him of what had transpired.

At the time of this incident, Respondent had only been practicing law in Florida for about a year. Mr. Buschman and Respondent were in the practice of referring clients to each other in uncontested dissolutions for stipulations and answer and waivers when required. Respondent's principal means of support presently is a fulltime teaching position at the University of North Florida.

In July 1984, the ex-wife sought to vacate the Final Judgment of Dissolution based upon Respondent's actions of signing Mr. Buschman's name. As a result of this hearing, the Honorable Lawrence Fay found that the judgment was merely voidable, not void, and would have to be attacked by separate action. As of this time, no such action has been filed by the ex-wife.

Pursuant to an announcement by The Florida Bar, the allegation of Respondent not having witnessed the signing of the quit claim deed was withdrawn.

The above facts were stipulated to by both The Florida Bar and Respondent at the time of the final hearing.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Florida Bar would argue that the referee erred in recommending a private reprimand as appropriate discipline and asks that upon review, the Court suspend Respondent from the practice of law for ninety (90) days.

The Florida Bar feels that the nature of Respondent's conduct is an affront to his responsibilities to his client and the court and that suspension should be the appropriate discipline.

Respondent's actions demonstrate a lack of responsibility not only to his client but to his profession at all levels.

ARGUMENT

I. THE REFEREE'S DISCIPLINARY RECOMMENDATION WAS ERRONEOUS AND THE DISCIPLINARY SANCTION IMPOSED SHOULD BE SUSPENSION.

The referee recommended that Respondent be disciplined by receiving a private reprimand with two years probation. This Court has previously stated that it is not bound by the referee's recommendations for discipline. <u>The Florida Bar v. Weaver</u>, 356 So.2d 797 (Fla. 1978). Accordingly, the Court has imposed greater discipline than recommended to it by referees when deemed appropriate. <u>The Florida Bar v. Wilson</u>, 425 So.2d 2 (Fla. 1983); <u>The Florida Bar v. Shapiro</u>, 413 So.2d 1184 (Fla. 1982); and The Florida Bar v. Lopez, 406 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 1981).

The Court has set forth certain criteria for determining the proper disciplinary sanction to be imposed against attorneys in actions brought pursuant to The Florida Bar Integration Rule, article XI. The Court has mandated that:

{F}irst, the judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing a penalty. Second, the judgment must be fair to

the Respondent, being sufficient to punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and rehabilitation. Third, the judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations. The Florida Bar v.Pahules, 233 So.2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970); Accord The Florida Bar v. Lord, 433 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1982); and The Florida Bar v. Pettie, 424 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1982).

Mindful of the foregoing criteria, the Board of Governors of The Florida Bar has directed that Bar Counsel seek Respondent's suspension.

In the instant matter, there is no dispute by Respondent that he committed the acts as charged in the complaint. Respondent freely admits that he forged another attorney's signature to certain court documents, to wit: an Answer and Waiver of court appearance and stipulation, in a dissolution of marriage action and allowed the court to rely upon such documents in entering a final judgment of dissolution. Respondent also does not deny that he failed to inform the court of such actions until such time as the opposing party sought to vacate the final judgment.

Respondent's willful actions that he has admitted to can be seen as prejudicing his client in the attempt of the wife to vacate the final judgment based upon Respondent's forging the other attorney's name to the court documents.

While it may have been an inconvenience to Respondent and his client to have obtained the signature of the wife's attorney, it does not appear that any consideration to such consequences for his client was taken by Respondent.

In the instant matter, The Florida Bar is greatly concerned about Respondent's conduct exhibiting a lack of appreciation of the overall nature and concept of the adversarial proceedings and that he would present fraudulent pleadings to the court. The reasoning employed by Respondent herein was one of inconvenience of time that outweighed his obligation and duty of truth and veracity to the judiciary and his fellow lawyers.

As an attorney, Respondent is deemed to be an officer of the court and as such is an essential component of the administration of justice. <u>State ex rel. Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Calhoun</u>, 102 So.2d 604, 608 (Fla. 1958). The administration of justice is a service rendered by the state to the public and it exacts from those who engage in it the highest degree of confidence and good faith. <u>Kloss</u> v. State, 95 Fla. 433, 116 So.39 (Fla. 1928).

As a member of The Florida Bar and an officer of the court, Respondent had a duty that encompassed far more than the narrow objectives of his client. Respondent's actions

violated his responsibility to the court and public in failing to assure that the proper administration of justice was provided in the handling of this matter. The argument by Respondent that having to obtain the signature of opposing counsel would have inconvenienced his client cannot outweigh the duty he owed the court to present a true and accurate status of the case and relevant pleadings.

While it does not appear that this particular set of facts have been presented to the Court for prior disciplinary consideration, the Court has addressed the aspect of fraudulent practices by attorneys.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Babbitt</u>, 475 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1985), the Court suspended an attorney for sixty (60) days for preparing and using a forged use and occupancy permit in connection with a real estate closing. The Court found that such action was a violation of Disciplinary Rule 1-102(A)(4) (a lawyer shall not engage in conduct involving dishonesty, fraud, deceit or misrepresentation).

This Court has held that lying to a trial judge in order to obtain a continuance warrants a sixty (60) day suspension. <u>The Florida Bar v. Oxner</u>, 431 So.2d 983 (Fla. 1983). In <u>Oxner</u>, the Respondent described his predicament as "I got myself in a crunch, and I was

careless with what I had to say to the Court to get out of my mistake." Supra, p. 985.

The referee in <u>Oxner</u> felt that such action by a lawyer toward a court of this state tarnished the honor of all members of the Bar and is intolerable and should not be passed over lightly. In affirming the referee's recommendation, this Court held that a lawyer should never mislead the court and emphasized the importance of a judge's being able to rely on representations made by counsel. Supra, p. 986.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Reese</u>, 421 So.2d 495 (Fla. 1982), the Respondent therein was found guilty of signing an attorney's name to a Motion for Final Judgment without that attorney's knowledge. For this act, Respondent Reese was found to have violated Disciplinary Rules 1-102(A)(4) and (6). Respondent Reese received a three-year suspension, an enhanced penalty based upon cumulative past discipline.

Respondent's failure to inform the court in this matter of the fraud may be viewed as an aggravating factor. In <u>The Florida Bar v. Agar</u>, 394 So.2d 405, 406 (Fla. 1981), it was argued as mitigation that the false testimony presented by a lawyer would not be capable of

affecting the outcome of the case in question. The Court rejected such argument and stressed the perpetration of the fraud on the court. In the instant matter, Respondent has argued that his actions of signing another lawyer's name had no material effect upon the ultimate outcome of the divorce. Respondent did inform the other lawyer after the fact but failed to voluntarily inform the court.

In the instant case, Bar records reveal that Respondent had received a private reprimand at the grievance committee level for similar conduct, to wit: going before a court in a dissolution matter at final hearing, representing the wife when he had been retained by the husband in an uncontested divorce. Respondent failed to inform the court of this matter.

This Court has repeatedly held that in considering appropriate penalty in a disciplinary matter, prior misconduct and cumulative misconduct are relevant factors. <u>The Florida Bar v. Greensphan</u>, 386 So.2d. 523 (Fla. 1980); <u>The Florida Bar v. Ber</u>n, 425 So.2d 526 (Fla. 1982).

Respondent has argued in mitigation certain personal problems and possible damage to his career as a college professor. The Florida Bar would argue that neither were propounded as an excuse or reason for his actions that led

to this matter. The Bar does not feel that the duty owed to the public should be compromised by possible harm to a lawyer's endeavors he chooses to take on outside the legal profession. It is also felt that the responsibility to deter such similar conduct cannot be compromised by such considerations.

In conclusion, the Bar would argue that the appropriate discipline in the instant matter be suspension from the practice of law for ninety (90) days.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, The Florida Bar respectfully requests that this Honorable Court uphold the referee's recommendation of guilt as to disciplinary violations and to enter an order that Respondent be suspended from the practice of law for ninety (90) days.