IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

(Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

vs.

JOEL KAUFFMAN,

Respondent.

JUL CONFIDENTIA Case No. 67,652

(TFB No. 04B85N08)

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF

Samuel S. Jacobson of Datz, Jacobson & Lembcke, P.A. 2902 Independent Square Jacksonville, Florida 32202 904/355-5467 Attorneys for Respondent

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent accepts the Bar's Statement of the Case, subject to the following supplementation.

The Grievance Committee which found probable cause in this matter recommended that respondent receive a nonpublic reprimand. Thus both of the fact finders--the Grievance Committee and the Referee--having first hand feel for the facts considered a nonpublic reprimand the appropriate discipline.

The Board of Governors, in voting not to accept the discipline recommended by the Grievance Committee and by the Referee, acted without hearing from the respondent or counsel on his behalf.

POINT INVOLVED ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING A PRIVATE REPRIMAND AND PROBATION AS THE CONDUCT OF RESPONDENT DESERVES AND DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

A. WHETHER RESPONDENT'S WILLFUL FORGING OF AN ATTORNEY'S SIGNATURE TO A COURT PLEADING AND HIS FAILURE TO INFORM THE COURT OF SUCH FACT DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Respondent acted entirely with good intentions, not to overreach or take advantage. The instant incident occurred when he was relatively new and inexperienced and was entirely the product of his inexperience, without any bad faith.

Respondent was a faculty member of the University of North Florida teaching commercial law courses. Although an admitted lawyer, he initially did not practice. With the advent of legal-clinic law practices, he opened a clinic-type parttime law office in the Beaches area of Jacksonville. He provided representation primarily in uncontested divorces and small bankruptcies. His clientele consisted largely of Navy enlisted personnel and other clients of limited financial The level of his fees was commensurate with the nature means. The people who came to him were from the of his practice. client group which would otherwise have looked to secretarial services or other nonlawyer sources for assistance.

When respondent began his parttime practice, he was advised by an established lawyer that in uncontested domestic cases involving a stipulation between the parties, the "adverse party" needed to file an answer and waiver for procedural

-2-

completion of the case. This lawyer agreed to be available for answer and waiver purposes. Respondent did not know that by the 1980's it had become unnecessary to have attorney executed answers and waivers, if indeed it was ever really necessary.¹

During 1981 respondent was contacted by an enlisted sailor who was having serious domestic problems. While on cruise the sailor had received notification that his wife had

The domestic relations attorney's ethical perspective in 1. dealing with an unrepresented adverse spouse is somewhat A significant percentage of dissolution cases murky. realistically do not require an attorney for each spouse. Nor are double attorney's fees pragmatically warranted in such cases. As an understandable result there has been a long histroy of one lawyer divorce cases where the one lawyer prepares papers for signing by both his client and the other spouse. See, <u>State_v. Oxford</u>, 127 So.2d 107 (Fla. 1961). Abuses of this practice have from time to time stimulated prohibitions against preparation by a lawyer of divorce papers for an unrepresented adverse When respondent's counsel began practicing in the spouse. Fourth Circuit in the mid-1960's, the trial courts frowned upon uncounseled stipulations and answers and waivers, and it was common for dometic relations attorneys to execute stipulations and answers and waivers for unrepresented parties for a nominal fee. The circuit judges for respondent's circuit at one point issued a written notice that divorce papers prepared by lawyer for a an unrepresented adverse party would not be approved. See also Opinion 66-8, Professional Ethics of the Florida Bar Over the years both the bench and bar (March 30, 1966). have receded from this position. As a matter of practice lawyers now routinely prepare documents and pleadings for parties expedite dissolution cases, both to and the obtaining of lawyers for answer and waiver purposes is virtually nonexistent. This has essentially evolved from recognition of the social and economic realities of the day.

abandoned their children and was living with another man. The children had been taken into custody by HRS. The sailor was granted emergency leave to get things straightened out.

The sailor returned to Jacksonville and consulted respondent. The sailor advised respondent that he and his wife had agreed that the sailor would have the children and the marital home, and the wife would receive her freedom and the family car. Respondent accordingly prepared the necessary papers to accomplish this, consisting of an agreement, a quit-claim deed, and an answer and waiver for execution by the wife. Each of these documents was in fact signed by the wife. The answer and waiver also had a line for execution by respondent's cooperating attorney, and the wife was advised that he would be her lawyer of record.

Upon receipt of the signed documents, respondent scheduled an uncontested final hearing. The final hearing was scheduled on an emergency basis so that it could be held during husband's short period of emergency leave.

When respondent arrived at the Duval County Courthouse for the final hearing, he realized that the answer and waiver had not been signed by the cooperating attorney. Obtaining the attorney's signature at that point would have necessitated cancellation of the hearing and would have made it impossible to have a final hearing during the sailor's leave. Respondent

-4-

accordingly signed the cooperating attorney's name to the answer and waiver. He thereafter proceeded with the final hearing and presented the answer and waiver to the court. Immediately after the final hearing respondent contacted the cooperating attorney and told him about signing his name to the answer and waiver.

Respondent sought no undue advantage by signing the cooperating attorney's name to the answer and waiver. He obtained only the relief previously agreed to by the parties. He obtained no additional fee or other financial advantage for himself from signing the other attorney's name. He acted only to overcome what he perceived to be a technical obstacle to a final hearing which was under the circumstances rather badly needed for both client and children. When ultimately questioned about signing the other attorney's name, respondent openly and forthrightly acknowledged what he had done.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Respondent was guilty of no bad faith or intentional wrongdoing. He neither sought nor obtained advantage for himself from the complained-of act. He acted only out of good faith toward his client to overcome what he perceived to be a procedural technicality which was obstructing the manifest

-5-

needs of the divorcing parties and of their children. His wrongdoing represented a poorly considered effort by an inexperienced attorney to achieve a legitimate end by foolish means.

The Bar's Grievance Committee and this Court's Referee both felt that a nonpublic reprimand and probation would be appropriate here. The recommendations of the Grievance Committee and the Referee should be accepted.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE REFEREE ERRED IN RECOMMENDING A PRIVATE REPRIMAND AND PROBATION AS THE CONDUCT OF RESPONDENT DESERVES AND DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

A. WHETHER RESPONDENT'S WILLFUL FORGING OF AN ATTORNEY'S SIGNATURE TO A COURT PLEADING AND HIS FAILURE TO INFORM THE COURT OF SUCH FACT DEMANDS SUSPENSION.

The Bar's presentation of respondent's act as a willful, fraudulent deed done with bad motive is altogether inaccurate. Respondent in no way acted out of corrupt motive to obtain an improper, illegal benefit.

There was no question that the divorcing parties had agreed upon the terms of their divorce. Each of the parties had signed all of the documents requisite to obtaining a dissolution on their agreed upon terms. Respondent sought only to bring about what they had agreed upon, and also what their children patently needed.

-6-

Respondent was presented at the final hearing with a difficult situation. His client was home only on very short emergency leave. A final hearing had to be held prior to expiration of the emergency leave, not only in the interests of the parties, but also of their minor children. Delay of the final hearing would have been tantamount to cancelling it and leaving the parties and their children indefinitely in limbo.

By reason of inexperience, respondent failed to realize that an attorney's signature was not actually necessary for an answer and waiver.² He was also insufficiently experienced to realize that he could proceed with a final hearing subject to obtaining the attorney's signature after the hearing, prior to actual entry of final judgment.

Respondent regarded the absence of the attorney's signature as a technical formality which threatened to frustrate the evident needs of justice. His signing of the other attorney's name was intended only to serve the needs and interests of all concerned parties. He intended no deception or fraud, as indicated by his immediate advice to the other attorney as to what he had done. He obtained no undue or



^{2.} Probably the best thing would have been to have the wife, who was the spouse more desirous of a divorce, appear at the final hearing to state her agreement to the final judgment and execute an answer and waiver in the presence of the Court.

improper benefit for his client. Nor did he impose any loss upon the client's wife.

Significantly, respondent's conduct was in no way motivated by self-gain. He obtained neither additional fee nor other selfish benefit.

Respondent acknowledges before this Court, as he has at all other times, that signing the other lawyer's name was ill-considered and improper. But he feels that the state of mind with which he acted is highly material to the discipline to be imposed upon him. He firmly denies that he should be treated as an attorney who willfully sought to overreach or take advantage of anyone.

The Bar correctly states in its brief that no case involving facts of this sort has previously been presented to this Court for disciplinary consideration. (Bar Brief P. 12). As the Bar concedes, all of the cases cited in its brief dealt with "fraudulent practices." (Bar Brief P. 12). All of those cases are accordingly to all intents and purposes altogether inapplicable here. Certainly all of them presented a different order or dimension of conduct from what is charged against respondent.

A word also is in order about the previous Grievance Committee private reprimand imposed upon respondent. That matter involved respondent's first or second case as a

-8-

practicing attorney. There respondent represented a wife in another uncontested divorce case. After the filing of a dissolution petition on behalf of the wife, it was decided between the husband and wife that the wife would return to her native country without waiting for a divorce, and that the husband would obtain the divorce on a counterpetition filed by him. When the final hearing was held, respondent appeared for wife, and the husband appeared in proper person with his residency witness. Respondent, out of ignorance, by direct examination elicited from the husband all of the information needed for a divorce. The Circuit Judge assumed that respondent was representing the husband. When respondent became aware of the Judge's understandable misperception, he and the husband explained the actual situation to the Judge. The Judge thereupon required that the hearing be redone and reported the matter to the Bar. After investigation, a private reprimand was administered. Respondent did not, in fact. understand that the reprimand was reflected in the Bar's records as an adverse disciplinary action against him. In that case, as here, there was no improper advantage either sought or Respondent, after counseling by the Circuit Judge obtained. and the Grievance Committee, never again repeated his error, and assuredly would not have committed it then with any experience to draw on.

-9-

Respondent also objects to the Bar's comments as to the irrelevancy of the impact of a suspension on his livelihood. Brief P. 14-15). Respondent does not (Bar arque that misconduct should be excused or overlooked because discipline will be injurious. But he does say that this Court should consider, as the Referee did, the degree of injury to be suffered from discipline, as well as the need for some reasonable relation between discipline and misconduct.

Here respondent will suffer serious, irreparable harm from public discipline. A publicly revealed 90-day suspension may involve permanent loss of his teaching job, which is his primary livelihood. A temporary suspension would for all intents and purposes threaten as much impact on this respondent as a disbarment upon the usual respondent.

Respondent's attitude is good. There is no suggestion of any moral deficit or characterological problem on his part. His derelictions or deficiencies were the result of lack of understanding. Five years of experience since the events here complained of have already greatly corrected the deficiency of understanding which gave rise to this matter. The period of probation and continuing legal education recommended by the Referee will insure that respondent's understanding will be brought to where it should be.

On the other hand the Bar's requested discipline goes

-10-

substantially beyond what is required in the public's interests and will subject respondent to injury far out of proportion to his conduct.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons respondent says that the report and recommendations of the Referee should be approved. He pledges himself to wholehearted cooperation in carrying out the report and recommendations.